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The Anti-slavery movement in Fredonia: 1836 - 1863 

 

Due to an Underground Railroad connection to Darwin R. Barker and 

family, rumors about Fredonia's involvement persisted for a century. 

As the rumors were passed along, the stories grew more and more 

preposterous, until just about every 19th century home in Fredonia 

was labeled as an Underground Railroad house. 

 

In fact, many of those homes did not even exist prior to the Civil 

War. Instead, it was in the tiny homes, cabins, and shanties of ordi-

nary people where refugees were sheltered.  Now, with the help of 

the internet, primary sources regarding these people have come to 

light, and have been shared. Using those resources, we have been 

able to map more than 1000 people in Chautauqua County who          

defined themselves as abolitionists. 

 

Many people who were called upon to aid refugees were African 

Americans whose stories have emerged during this research. Assist-

ing in this effort have been SUNY Professor Emeritus Douglas H. 

Shepard of the Darwin R. Barker Museum, Chautauqua County His-

torian Michelle Henry, Orbitist founder Nicholas Gunner, SUNY 

Oswego Professor Emerita Judith Wellman, and Chautauqua County 

Genealogy Society founders Lois and Norwood Barris. 

 

                                          ————— 

 

Cover painting by Charles T. Webber, created for the 1893 World's 

Fair in Chicago. The painting is housed in the Cincinnati Art Mu-

seum. Webber was born in 1825; his painting shows his friend Levi 

Coffin (1798 - 1877) standing on the wagon, as a new group of refu-

gees arrives at the Levi Coffin home. Other friends of Webber who 

are shown in the painting are Levi's wife Catharine White Coffin 

(1803 - 1881) and the abolitionist Hanna Wharton Haydock (1818 - 

1893). Today, the National Underground Railroad Freedom Center is 

located in Cincinnati. 



 

 

 

Please disregard the Old Myths, because: 
   

 

 There were no tunnels, quilt signs, or rings of  

trees. No refugee narratives or conductor memoirs  

verify these rumors. 
 

 Across the entire north, there is little evidence of   

hidden rooms.  Instead, there was an enormous net-

work of people, who openly sheltered refugees in 

their cabins, houses, shanties, and barns. 

Examples of reasons for the erroneous rumors in Fredonia: 

 

(1) Some people who later built Victorian mansions had been ante-

bellum abolitionists and “stockholders” (i.e. financial supporters) 

of the Underground Railroad; therefore their new houses became 

mistakenly associated by later generations as Underground Rail-

road (UGRR) homes. 

(2) Later generations assumed that the term “underground” actually 

meant “under the ground.” Instead, it simply meant “secret,” like 

the French Underground (i.e. Resistance) during World War II.  

(3) Hidden alcoves used for stashing liquor during Prohibition were       

jokingly called “my Underground Railroad room.” Later genera-

tions did not realize that this was simply family folklore. 

(4) The rumors of “quilts on the line” or “rings of trees” do not 

match the record left by conductor memoirs and refugee inter-

views, regarding the actual methods of operation of the UGRR.   



Rev. Samuel Ringgold Ward 

 

Ward corresponded with Judge Foote about the tiny school houses 

and small churches where Ward was scheduled to speak. During the 

late 1830s and early 1840s, Ward was invited to the area by the   

Chautauqua County Anti-slavery Society. 

 

A well known orator, Ward had escaped from slavery with his par-

ents when he was only a toddler. Part of his name may have been a 

reference to that of  Samuel Ringgold, a member of Congress from 

Ward’s home state of Maryland.  

 

Ward was a Congregationalist minister. Seven of his letters to and 

from Judge Foote survive. Most notable in that correspondence is 

the fact that Ward challenged Foote to entice Chautauqua County’s 

church people to act politically upon their abolitionist convictions. 

 

The churches and school houses 

 

Ward and other anti-slavery orators usually spoke in small venues 

in the many small, rural settlements of Chautauqua County. Two of 

those sites that still exist are the Baptist Church in Nashville NY, 

and the Baptist Church in Leon NY. 

 

Nashville Baptist Church is located on Route 39, not far from the 

Chautauqua/Cattaraugus county line. Following the loss of its re-

maining congregation in the late twentieth century, the building 

was purchased by its neighbors, to be preserved as long as possible. 

 

Leon is located on Route 62, a short distance into Cattaraugus 

County. The tiny church is situated on a bend in the road,  just 

south of the center of town. When it was photographed in 2010,    

the old building was in use as a garage. 

 

Amazingly in both cases, the Greek Revival features of each 

church’s architecture had so far remained intact when these images 

were obtained. 



Catherine Harris 

 

Harris was an African American seamstress, maid, and nanny in 

Jamestown. In 1902, at age 93, she gave an interview to the James-

town Evening Journal, recalling great detail about the Underground 

Railroad fifty years earlier, and her part in it. 

 

She recounted that prominent (white) abolitionists brought refugees 

to her, sometimes more than a dozen at a time. Harris was expected  

to feed, shelter, and clothe each person until he or she could be 

safely moved to the next station. 

 

Although Harris did not complain or accuse, it is clear from her 

words that she was in great danger of being imprisoned and/or fined. 

It is not known if she received financial assistance from the many 

wealthy (white) abolitionists in Jamestown. 
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Eber Pettit was a self-proclaimed conductor and stationmaster for the Un-

derground Railroad. His serialized stories about that enterprise were 

printed in the Fredonia Censor shortly after the Civil War. A dozen years 

later, the Censor office reprinted the series in a book entitled Sketches in 

the History of the Underground Railroad. 

 

Although some aspects of the memoir are fanciful, inconsistent, or conde-

scending toward African Americans, several of the book’s stated facts can 

be verified by other sources. Also, several people named by Pettit as his 

UGRR associates can also be verified in other documents. 

 

Pettit, his wife Euretta Sweet, daughter Helen, and son-in-law Darwin R. 

Barker operated their station in Versailles, a tiny mill town on the banks 

of the Cattaraugus Creek, across the stream from the Seneca Nation lands. 

Pettit considered himself a doctor, and probably learned a great deal about 

medicine from his many friends among the Senecas. Pettit was also in-

debted to nearby Quakers for help with the family herb and seed business. 

The Eber Pettit and Darwin R. Barker home in Versailles NY 



Pettit’s father Dr. James Pettit and mother Lucy Felt also operated a 

UGRR station. Theirs was located at the intersection of today’s 

Chestnut Street and today’s Matteson Street/Van Buren Road. The 

mill settlement there was then known as Cordova, and Chestnut 

Street was alternately called Turner Road and Cordova Road. 

 

Eber’s son James served in the Civil War, then took over the family’s 

herb and seed business in Versailles. Eber, Euretta, Darwin, and 

Helen moved back to Fredonia, leaving their large Greek Revival 

home in Versailles to James. Eber and Darwin built a large farm-

house on Central Avenue, where the main entrance to SUNY Fredo-

nia is located today. 

 

Eber’s medicine office was on Central Avenue next to the home, but 

he built an enormous medicine factory on East Main Street, at the in-

tersection of today’s Cleveland Avenue. The factory burned before 

the end of the 19th century, and a gas station and some shops later 

occupied the site. None of the Pettit/Barker homes have survived. 



   Each morning through much of the 20th century, Fredonia school 

children recited the Pledge of Allegiance, and then sang, “My Country 

‘Tis of Thee.” The lyrics, also called “America,” were written by the 

Baptist minister Samuel Francis Smith (1808 - 1895), whose daughter 

Mary White Smith Jones and son-in-law Reverend Howard Malcolm 

Jones lived in Fredonia during the Civil War. 

   Rev. Jones was the pastor of the Fredonia Baptist Church, and he was 

given an album of church members’ photographs when he departed for 

the midwest. In 1913, Mary’s and Howard’s son Harry Wild Jones re-

turned to Fredonia as a well known architect. He constructed a new 

wing for the church, and gave the photos back to the congregation. 

   There was once a man in Fredonia whom Eber Pettit later described  

as the President of the Underground Railroad near Albany NY. It is 

probable that Pettit was referring to Rev. Abel Brown, Jr. (1810 - 

1844), who had attended the Fredonia Academy in 1830. That school  

is pictured next to the Fredonia Baptist Church above. Brown had been 

baptized in the same church that same year.  

   Brown worked in Dunkirk a while, then attended Hamilton College, 

was ordained, and returned briefly to Fredonia, to wed Mary Ann  

Brigham (1814 - 1842). Brown is said to have assisted over a thousand 

freedom seekers in PA, in OH, and in central and eastern NY. He was 

mobbed and beaten several times for his efforts. Following the early 

deaths of their parents, the Browns’ two children grew up in Fredonia 

with their grandmother Mary Dix Brigham (1790 - 1857). 



The Jubilee Singers (Fisk University, Nashville TN) visited Fredonia NY 

in 1873, 1878, and 1881, staying at the Taylor House hotel, the location 

of today's One Park Place. Their founder and director George L. White 

(1838-1895) is buried in Fredonia. He was a Civil War veteran and the 

son-in-law of Fredonia's Dr. John Gilbert. The Jubiliee Singers' most  

recent, longtime director was Dr. Paul T. Kwami (1952-2022). 

The first group of Jubiliee Singers, all but two of them former slaves,  

introduced formerly secret “slave songs” to the world. Today known as  

Negro Spirituals, the songs were performed at Oberlin College in 1871, 

where they brought the audience to silence and tears. Their most popular 

recording today, In Bright Mansions, is available in packaging which 

includes a pictorial history of the group. 

In 1999, the ensemble was featured in Jubilee Singers: Sacrifice and 

Glory, a PBS award-winning television documentary series, produced by 

WGBH/Boston. They continue to share the rich culture and history of 

their music around the world. 



The Chautauqua County anti-slavery map at https://chqgov.com/ugrr 

shows over 1150 abolitionists and related sites. This represents research 

so far into the names and places recorded in primary documents. 

 

Large groups of anti-slavery activists seem to appear in certain areas 

only because documents such as their petitions or annual church meet-

ings have survived. Areas where activity seems sparse usually indicate 

merely the absence of such records.  

 

In other words, there is no evidence that Chautauqua County was di-

vided on the slavery issue by geographic areas. Instead, political divi-

sions could be found between immediate neighbors: the Whig and new 

Republican parties were predominantly anti-slavery, whereas most  

Democrats did not take on the anti-slavery cause. 
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This window of the anti-slavery map zooms into Fredonia, 

showing 42 anti-slavery people in the downtown vicinity. 

 

However, if refugees were housed in this area, they were most 

likely in one of the four shanties on today’s Hart Street (circled 

in red), formerly known as Davis Avenue. 

 

The street was named for the African American barber Henry 

Davis, who most likely would have been asked to shelter refu-

gees in Fredonia, in the same manner in which Catherine Har-

ris was asked to do so in Jamestown. 

 

Davis is also known to have traded locations for a brief time 

with John Little, an African American conductor in Arkwright, 

whose UGRR involvement was documented by Pettit. 



Seven of the large clusters of abolitionists surrounding Fredonia. 
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Large clusters represent areas where abolitionist church 

documents or anti-slavery petitions exist, or in at least two 

areas, where there are existing lists of handmade clothing 

and bedding donated to refugees. 

 

Such items, along with monetary donations, came from 

the people whom Pettit and others called “Stockholders” 

of the Underground Railroad. As such, “ladies’ anti-

slavery societies” seem to have existed throughout the 

county, but only scant records survive.  

https://chqgov.com/ugrr


Seven Anti-slavery Clusters near Fredonia 

At the upper right, 90 people are shown in the area of Arkwright and 

Burnham’s Hollow. These people signed anti-slavery petitions, and/

or were listed in Judge Foote’s anti-slavery papers. Nearby, one  of 

the petitions was signed by women, although they acknowledged in 

their preamble that they could not vote. 

Moving clockwise around this map, note that 75 people near Hamlet 

NY either signed anti-slavery petitions, or they were named in Benja-

min Vincent’s list of people who donated items for refugees. At least 

half of the people on Vincent’s list were women. Several of the men 

on Vincent’s list also signed the petitions. 

Next, 83 people are shown in the Ellington and Conewango area. 

They signed anti-slavery petitions, or were listed in Foote’s papers, or 

were members of the Ladies’ Anti-slavery Society here. 

The 140 people shown in the Jamestown area either signed the peti-

tions, or were listed by Foote, or both. 

27 people are shown in the Sugar Grove area, near the state line. In 

this region is the farm where the refugee Harrison Williams was   

captured, shortly after the Fugitive Slave Law of 1850 was passed. 

He was given a hasty trial and returned to slavery. Two members of 

his party were captured elsewhere, but four others escaped to Canada. 

Two additional clusters shown on this map include 74 in the Sherman 

NY area, and 39 at Wait Corners, not far from Sherman. These peo-

ple are found on anti-slavery petitions. There is no doubt that if the 

petitions from Westfield, Fredonia, and other Chautauqua County 

villages had survived, similarly large clusters would be shown in 

those regions as well. 

Also, if the minutes of the annual meetings of Congregationalists, 

Wesleyans, and Free Will Baptists had survived, it is likely that the 

anti-slavery resolutions of those groups would have yielded even 

more names on this map. 



*Notes on the five Major Sources above: 

(1) Sketches in the History of the Underground Railroad by 

Eber Pettit is available at Amazon, courtesy of Paul Leone. 

(2) The papers of Elial T. Foote are available online, courtesy 

of the McClurg Museum in Westfield. 

(3) Benjamin Vincent’s good-will list was published in the  

      Fredonia Censor in the 1930s, and is reprinted under  

      Vincent’s story on the map https://chqgov.com/ugrr . 

(4) The anti-slavery petitions are transcribed at Chautauqua 

County Historian Michelle Henry’s website at the  

      Underground Railroad tab. 

(4) The Baptists’ annual anti-slavery resolutions are available 

      at the same location, and are filed at SUNY Fredonia. 

 

The Major Sources for the Map* 
 

 The Memoirs of Eber Pettit 

 The papers of Judge Elial T. Foote 

 Benjamin Vincent’s goodwill list in Villenova. 

 Anti-slavery petitions from National Archives. 

 The Baptists’ annual anti-slavery resolutions. 
 

Additional Sources  
 

—29 Aug 1839 (pub. 25 Sep 1839) Minutes of Chaut. Co. Anti-slavery Society 

—1851 Published accounts of the Harrison Williams kidnapping 

—1884 History of Erie County (PA), Samuel P. Bates 

—1891 Interviews and article by Palmer K. Shankland 

—1900 Cherry Creek Illustrated, Chas. J. Shults, ed. 

—1902 Interviews and articles by C.R Lockwood 

—1915 History of the Jamestown Baptist Church, Anon. 

—1921 History of Chautauqua County and Its People, Albert S. Price 

—1923 Busti Centennial Booklet, Emma Gourdey, et al 

—1940 “Underground Railroad in Western NY,” William S. Bailey 

—1975 Carroll Sesquicentennial Booklet, June T. Richards 

—1979 French Creek 150 Years, Wesley and Peterson 

https://chqgov.com/ugrr

